

Surrey and Sussex Police:

Chief Constable's Scheme of Delegation



### DOCUMENT HISTORY

### All parts of this section must be completed

Document History								
Date	Version	Change Details	Update Author					
April	Final	Published Version						
2015								
July 2016	Draft	Updated draft version per PCC & CC CFO comments	MB					
May 2020	Draft	Updated draft version as per revised Financial	МК					
		Regulations and CSO's						

Contributors/Stakeholders Consulted							
Name	Role/Department						
Change Board							
Extended CO(Surrey) and FEB (Sussex)							
CFO's							
СОМ							

Sign Off/Approval								
Version	Date	Name	Role/Department					
	Approved							
		Chief Constable Sussex						
		Chief Constable Surrey						

Document Distribution List								
Name	Role/Department							
FEB								
Extended COM Surrey								
All start via intranet and Routine								
Orders or similar								

# Contents

Section 1: Introduction	4
Section 2: Budget Delegation	5
Section 3: Delegated Budgets	9
Section 4: Authorisation of Expenditure	11
Section 5: Financial Settlement of Claims	12
Section 6: Pay, Establishment Control and Pensions	13
Section 7: Income	14
Section 8: Business Cases and Financial Appraisals	14
Section 9: Other Delegations	15
Section 10: Recording of Approvals	16
Summary of Authorisation Levels APPENDIX A	17

## **Section 1: Introduction**

### Summary

1.1 This document sets out the responsibilities, delegated authority and control framework that applies to staff employed by the Chief Constables of Surrey Police and Sussex Police. The Chief Constables Scheme of Delegation supplements the Police and Crime Commissioner's (PCC) Scheme of Delegation, which includes the delegated authority granted to the Chief Constable, Director of People Services, Chief Finance Officer (CFO) by the PCC.

### Background

- 1.2 Surrey Police and Sussex Police are each a corporation sole (legal entity) and as such must establish a financial framework to ensure good governance, financial control and value for money. The Police Reform and Social responsibility Act 2011 requires each Chief Constable to appoint a person responsible for the proper administration of financial affairs of the Chief Constable, the "Chief Finance Officer".
- For the purpose of this document, references to CFO means the Executive Director of Commercial & Finance Services for Sussex and Surrey, with the Service Director, Finance acting as deputy for both Sussex and Surrey.
- 1.4 The Scheme provides a framework to ensure clear governance and accountability for decision making whilst ensuring business is carried out efficiently i.e. decisions should not be unnecessarily delayed.

### **Purpose and Scope**

- 1.5 The purpose of the Scheme is to set out the responsibilities and flexibilities the Chief Constable has delegated to their command teams and budget holders. This includes any limitations on designated powers, including requirements to report back and the extent to which powers designated can be further delegated to others. The Scheme sets out the framework for budget management and promotes good financial management and the effective use of resources by budget holders.
- 1.6 This scheme applies to all staff and police officers employed by the Chief Constables of Surrey and Sussex and applies to all individual Surrey and Sussex services and all joint Surrey/Sussex services (as defined under the Section 22A agreement). Financial Regulations allow appropriate Surrey and Sussex staff to manage budgets of either Force in line with this Scheme. The collaboration Finance Protocol sets out the framework for specific financial arrangements for joint Surrey/Sussex services.
- 1.7 The Scheme predominantly relates to financial responsibilities but includes other delegations from the Chief Constables. The Scheme does not include specific operational responsibilities established by statute.
- 1.8 The authority delegated by the Chief Constables in this Scheme should be exercised in line with any other legal or operational requirements and with reference to Financial Regulations, Contract Standing Orders, Risk Management Strategy, Medium Term Financial Plan and other policies, procedures, plans and budgets.

### **Urgent Matters**

1.9 If any matter which would normally be referred to the Chief Constable for a decision arises and cannot be delayed, the matter may be decided by the appropriate chief officer.

1.10 The appropriate chief officers authorised to decide urgent matters are the:

Deputy Chief Constable (all issues)

CC's Executive Director of Commercial & Finance Services (financial and related issues)

1.11 Urgent decisions taken must be reported to the Chief Constable as soon as practically possible.

### **General Principles of Delegation**

- 1.12 The following general principles apply:
  - a) The Chief Constable may at any time ask that a specific matter is referred to her/him for a decision and not dealt with under powers of delegation.
  - b) The scheme does not list all matters which form part of everyday management responsibilities of the Chief Constable.
- 1.13 In this document, reference is made to delegated budget holders who will have their responsibilities set out in the annual letter of financial accountability.
- 1.14 When a delegated budget holder is considering a matter that is outside their area of professional expertise and responsibility, they should consult with the appropriate individuals who have the relevant professional expertise before authorising action.
- 1.15 All decisions specified post holders make under powers delegated to them by the Chief Constable must be properly documented and available for inspection at any time by the Chief Constable.
- 1.16 Delegated budget holders are responsible for making sure that the members of staff they supervise know about the provisions and obligations of this Scheme.
- 1.17 With the exception, of those matters that cannot be delegated by the Chief Constable, the Scheme allows any person, with appropriate authority, to delegate that power further.
- 1.18 The Chief Constables Scheme of Delegation will be reviewed at least annually.

## **Section 2: Budget Delegation**

### Summary

- 2.1 The PCC holds their Chief Constable to account to provide an efficient and effective police service and provide the financial resources in the form of the annual budget. The PCC holds their Chief Constable to account for delivering the priorities of the Police and Crime Plan within the approved revenue and capital budget. The Chief Constable must not exceed the budgetary total and can only change the planned use of resources of the annual budget within the limits set out in Financial Regulations.
- 2.2 The Chief Constables delegate budgets to Portfolio Holders and Delegated Budget Holders, who may further delegate responsibility but remain accountable for their budget in total.

### Approach to Budget Delegation

2.3 The purpose of devolving budgets is to aid operational decision making and ensure spending decisions are made by the most appropriate person.

- 2.4 Delegated budgeting is the decentralisation of responsibilities for budget management from the centre of the organisation to individual cost centres i.e. Divisions and Departments. The process of delegation aims to introduce an environment where managers at all levels have:
  - well defined responsibilities for making the best use of their resources;
  - a clear view of their objectives; and
  - information and training needed to exercise their responsibilities.
- 2.5 The CFOs for Surrey and Sussex Police review the level of delegation annually as part of the budget setting process and make recommendations on changes to the Chief Constables.
- 2.6 Delegation will only be applied where there is a clear benefit (operationally and financially) and where:
  - expenditure on items directly relates to activities which can be controlled by the budget holder;
  - financial information is available on costs incurred; and
  - appropriate operational decision making is matched to financial resource allocation.
- 2.7 The basic principle underlying delegation is "that procedures should be simple, with restrictions kept to a minimum, allowing budget holders sufficient flexibility in decision making to deliver performance outcomes whilst ensuring the efficiency and effectiveness of their divisions or departments".
- 2.8 Portfolio Holders and Delegated Budget Holders are accountable to the Chief Constable, for delivering performance objectives and targets within their delegated budget. This is best achieved by allowing budget holders sufficient flexibility to make the most effective and efficient use of the resources at their disposal.

### **Portfolio Holders**

2.9 The Chief Constables delegate responsibility for the provision of services for each Force or joint service to a nominated Chief Officer (Deputy Chief Constable/Director of People Services/Assistant Chief Constable/Executive Director of Commercial & Finance Services/ Chief Information Officer). For the purposes of the Scheme these are termed Portfolio Holders.

### **Budget Responsibilities of Portfolio Holders**

- 2.10 Portfolio Holders are required to be proactive in holding their direct reports to account for budget and performance management. The Scheme allows Portfolio Holders the freedom to transfer (vire) funding between budgets under their control, following discussion with budget-holders, i.e. an underspend in one area can be transferred to support an operational need in another area of the portfolio, subject to requirements and limits set out in this Scheme.
- 2.11 Portfolio Holders are required to manage expenditure within their total delegated budget for the year in accordance with the financial governance framework (Financial Regulations, Contract Standing Orders and associated Financial Policy and Procedures).
- 2.12 Portfolio Holders are required to sign a letter confirming their budget accountability at the beginning of each financial year and advice on any changes to their Delegated Budget Holders

during the year.

- 2.13 Portfolio Holders are required to ensure they:
  - actively promote good financial governance, i.e. proper control and management of budgets; ensuring value for money and efficient use of resources;
  - deliver agreed saving plans as set out in Change Delivery plans; authorise expenditure and income commitments in accordance with force policy and procedures;
  - minimise expenditure and maximise income generation; and
  - evidence budget management performance as part of regular individual and command team performance and resourcing meetings

### **Delegated Budget Holders**

- 2.14 Portfolio Holders delegate responsibilities to achieve specific objectives of each of their services to their respective Heads of Division or Department. For the purposes of the Scheme these are termed Delegated Budget Holders.
- 2.15 Delegated Budget Holders are encouraged to further delegate responsibilities (within the limits set out in this Scheme) as appropriate to their service area. Finance Business Partners will advise budget holders to ensure further delegation is appropriate and adds value to local budget management and accountability. Where further delegation takes place, the individual must hold the necessary skills and be provided with the relevant information and training.

### **Budget Responsibilities of Delegated Budget Holders**

- 2.16 Delegated Budget Holders are required to manage expenditure within their total delegated budget for the year in accordance with the financial governance framework (Financial Regulations, Contract Standing Orders and associated Financial Policy and Procedures) and delivering services in accordance with the Police and Crime Plan and local operational plan within this budget.
- 2.17 Delegated Budget Holders are required to sign a letter confirming their budget accountability at the beginning of each financial year (this includes their annual budget and establishment) and provide a list of officers and staff that have been given delegated budget responsibility.
- 2.18 Budgets allocated are a fixed annual amount (cash limited) and include a provision for inflation, a vacancy factor and agreed savings. Budgets will not normally be adjusted during the course of the year. In exceptional circumstances, the CFO can approve a one –off budget adjustment.
- 2.19 Expenditure is to be managed within the approved budget allocated at the beginning of the financial year. There is no automatic carry-forward of unspent budget from one year to another. In exceptional circumstances underspends and overspends may be carried forward at the discretion of the Chief Constable and/or approval by the PCC.
- 2.20 No purchases will be made or commitments entered into which conflict with Force policy or with strategies already approved by Chief Officers or the Police and Crime Commissioners unless written approval has been obtained from the relevant Chief Officer, including the CFO.
- 2.21 Delegated Budget Holders will be required to attend Financial Performance and Planning Board to explain any significant budget variances or financial risks for their service area and associated action plans to address.

- 2.22 Specifically all Delegated Budget Holders are required to:
  - monitor expenditure throughout the year in close consultation with their Finance Business Partner including reporting to the Portfolio Holder or Chief Officers;
  - report their financial position on a monthly basis including accurate forecasts of income and expenditure, key variations and financial risks in accordance with monitoring procedures and guidance (to be included in reports to Chief Officers, the PCC and the Finance Performance and Planning Board);
  - identify any potential under or over spends and prepare plans accordingly to bring their spending into line with the annual budget if necessary;
  - manage their delegated budget within a ±1% or £100,000 (whichever is the lower) tolerance over the financial year. Portfolio Holder approval is required for any delegated budget holder to go above this level of variation and must be reported to the CFO(s);
  - to use the prime system and related systems as designated by the CFO(s) to produce budget monitoring reports, order goods and raise invoices;
  - ensure that they maintain staff numbers within establishment (in consultation with HR business partners);
  - consult with Finance Business Partners on any financial decisions pertaining to the budget holders responsibilities; and
  - ensure all business cases are signed off by their Finance Business Partner.

### Responsibilities of Finance Business Partners

2.23 Finance Business Partners will support Portfolio Holders and Delegated

Budget Holders to exercise their responsibilities set out in this Scheme by:

- advising budget holders on their arrangements to meet specific requirements set out above and other recommended practice issued by the CFOs ;
- assisting in monthly reporting in accordance with monitoring procedures and guidance;
- attending/contributing to relevant Divisional or Departmental performance or resourcing meetings (level of attendance to be agreed with CFOs); and
- advising on financial implications of new service demands and requirements from inspecting bodies such as External Audit or Her Majesty's Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire & Rescue Services (HMICFRS).
- 2.24 Finance Business Partners are required to
  - inform the CFO of any significant changes (+/- 1% of budget) in spending plans, potential over spends or other risks, issues or difficulties at an early stage.
  - attend the Finance Performance and Planning Board, as required, to discuss financial issues and arrangements for their relevant service areas.
  - sign off all relevant business case proposals prior to formal approval.

### Responsibilities of the CFOs

- 2.25 The CFOs have responsibility for overall financial management for Surrey and Sussex Police and advising their Chief Constable. In relation to this Scheme this means:
  - developing the annual budget setting process and medium term financial plans for the Force in conjunction with the keystakeholders;

- reporting to the Chief Constable and Chief Officer teams on the overall Budget position, making recommendations to ensure a balanced budget for the current year and medium term;
- developing and updating this Scheme, associated budget management guidance and all other finance policy and procedures;
- promote the adoption of efficient financial practices that support organisation performance; and
- establishing the appropriate control framework to ensure compliance with this Scheme and associated finance policy and procedures.

## **Section 3: Delegated Budgets**

### Summary

- 3.1 The majority of budget lines (expenditure and income types) are delegated to Portfolio Holders and Delegated Budget Holders. All other budgets are managed centrally either asa:
  - corporate budget managed by the appropriate Head of Service as part of their delegated budget only, e.g. IT, Learning & Development; legal costs and premises; or
  - force level budgets that are completely non delegated and are managed by the Chief Constable, Deputy Chief Constable and Executive Director of Commercial & Finance Services e.g. police officer pay and operational contingency budgets.
- 3.2 Force level budgets will wherever possible be visible to budget holders in their reports in order that those budgets may full costs.

### **Capital Budgets**

- 3.3 Capital expenditure is included within the scope of the delegated budget scheme. Capital allocations are considered as part of the annual capital budget setting process, by the Joint Investment Board (Refer to Financial Regulations), and allocated to specific named project leads.
- 3.4 Capital budget holders are expected to manage schemes within the total scheme provision over the life of the capital programme and meet all requirements as set out for delegated budget holders in this Scheme. In addition capital budget holders are required to:
  - report formally to the Finance Performance and Planning Board on progress and expenditure of each capital scheme each quarter;
  - set realistic profiles of expenditure at the beginning of each financial year and reviewing these regularly during the year (in consultation with their Finance Business Partner); and
  - identify any potential re-profiling of budget across financial years for a capital scheme at the earliest opportunity to their Finance Business Partner.

### **Pay Budgets**

- 3.5 With the exception of externally funded functions all police officer pay budgets are held and managed centrally and treated as non-delegated, i.e. budget variances will be managed at force level and not the responsibility of Delegated Budget Holders. Joint Surrey/Sussex services are not treated as externally funded functions i.e. the cost of police officers is shared (where there is a cost sharing agreement) but managed centrally.
- 3.6 Decisions on the use of police officer pay budget including new recruitment, changes in officer rank or mix will be made by Chief Officer teams.
- 3.7 Budget holders can propose civilianisation or changes to organisational rank structure subject to the establishment control procedures.
- 3.8 The Director of People Services will manage the total police officer numbers (recruitment, transferees, promotions and postings) for both Forces to ensure actual numbers of officers are in line with establishment and expenditure is within the police officer pay budget for each Force.
- 3.9 The Director of People Services will manage all internal police officer transfers and postings as a result of organisational change and decisions made by Chief Officer teams, with the aim of maintaining police officer numbers within an agreed establishment tolerance for each Division/Department (subject to Chief Officer priorities). This may mean transferring officers between Divisions and Departments.
- 3.10 All police staff and PCSO budgets are currently delegated i.e. budget variances will be managed at Delegated Budget Holder level. Budget holders can make decisions on appointments to established police staff posts subject to funding being available and establishment control procedures. For proposed permanent changes to posts, delegated Budget Holders are expected to consult with their portfolio holder, HR and Finance Business Partners, as appropriate. All establishment changes must be reported to the relevant CFO(s) in line with establishment control procedures.
- 3.11 Overtime budgets for Police Officers, Police Staff and PCSOs are fully delegated.
- 3.12 A summary of pay and non-pay delegated budgets for each Portfolio Holder and Delegated Budget Holder are set out in the annual budget accountability letter issued at the beginning of each financial year.

### Virement

- 3.13 The term virement means transfer and in this context is the transfer of planned financial resources between budgets.
- 3.14 Revenue budgets are classified into several 'subjective' categories (police officer pay, police staff pay, other employee costs, premises, supplies and services, transport, capital charges and income & grants).
- 3.15 Resources can be vired between revenue budgets, between capital budgets or revenue to capital but no budget may be vired from capital to revenue.
- 3.16 The Executive Director of Commercial & Finance Services can approve virements in accordance with the schedule at Appendix A. All other virements above £500K, including transfers of funding from revenue to capital, require PCC approval.
- 3.17 Portfolio Holders may approve virement of budgets between any category or any Delegated

Budget Holder, within their portfolio, in line with the limits set out in Appendix A.

- 3.18 Delegated budget holders have the ability to vire budgets between any category within their delegated budget in line with the limits set out in Appendix A.
- 3.19 All budget virements must be notified to, and confirmed by, Finance Business Partner before being actioned.

### Corporate Over-ride

- 3.20 Within the framework there is a need to maintain a corporate approach with the Chief Constable having the ability to exercise an effective level of resource redistribution as required during the year to ensure that:
  - certain 'business critical' common standards and operational practice are applied across the force, for example minimum numbers of warranted officers in specific units; consistent grading for posts with similar roles;
  - budget holder priorities are not considered more important than those facing the force as a whole;
  - any new significant financial pressures or risks emerging during the year are effectively managed e.g. public order operations;
  - resources are available to support policing together and other major change investments.
- 3.21 The Chief Constables will manage their overall force wide budget variations and new financial pressures and risks on this basis during the year.

### **Section 4: Authorisation of Expenditure**

- 4.1 All expenditure will be authorised in accordance with the levels set out at Appendix A.
- 4.2 To safeguard the Force's budget Delegated Budget Holders are responsible for ensuring effective systems are in place for:
  - approving requisitions (in Surrey only) and/or orders for all goods and services and ensuring the correct finance codes are used;
  - checking and certifying that goods are received are of correct quality; quantity and price and prompt notification is given to the Shared Business Services team of the receipt of goods and any variation;
  - adhering to the process of raising a purchase order or making a payment for goods using the government procurement card;
  - ensuring the proper separation of duties i.e. the person who requisitions the goods or service must not be the same person who certifies their receipt;
  - approval of requests and claims for subsistence, expenses, mileage, GPC, overtime, and their allowances by line managers is in line with policy and procedures; and
  - all appointments are made against approved establishment.
- 4.3 Budget holders should make use of all existing contracts or frameworks in place for the purchase of good and services. If budget holders identify new contract requirements or wish to use alternative contractual arrangements they should refer to Contract Standing Orders and/or seek advice from the Head of the Joint Procurement Service before making any significant procurement decisions. This will ensure consistency with the procurement strategy, compliance with Contract Standing Orders and achieve value for money.

## **Section 5: Financial Settlement of Claims**

### **Compensation Payments**

- 5.1 A compensation payment is a payment made in circumstances where Surrey or Sussex Police has a legal liability to settle a claim for property, accident damage, motor claim, personal injury or financial loss. Claims can relate to employees, organisations or the public. In order for a compensation payment to be made, Surrey or Sussex Police has to have acted negligently in the course of its duties and the claimant has to have suffered a loss.
- 5.2 In these cases, the overall settlement includes claimant's costs where applicable.
- 5.3 The Deputy Chief Constable or the CFO can approve the financial settlement of all claims or requests for compensation felt to be non-significant in line with limits set out in Appendix A and conditions set out in Financial Regulations.
- 5.4 The Head of Joint Insurance Services, Sussex Claims Manager and Heads of PSD may authorise claims in line with limits set out in Appendix A and conditions set out in Financial Regulations.

### **Ex Gratia Payments**

- 5.5 Ex gratia payments are made in respect of loss or damage where no liability or legal obligation on the part of the Chief Constable is accepted but where there is assessed to be a moral or other responsibility to meet the cost of a claim.
- 5.6 The Deputy Chief Constable or the Executive Director of Commercial & Finance Services can approve ex gratia payments in line with limits set out in Appendix A and conditions set out in Financial Regulations.
- 5.7 Portfolio Holders and Delegated Budget Holders may authorise lower value claims in line with limits set out in Appendix A and conditions set out in Financial Regulations.

### **Employment Related Compensation Payments**

- 5.8 Early retirement and redundancy payments can only be approved by the Director of People Services in line with the limits set out in Appendix A.
- 5.9 If agreed, in cases where a budget holder has proposed the redundancy/early retirement, any costs will be met by the budget holder. Where a redundancy/early retirement is as a result of an approved change process or Joint Investment Board approved change business case, funding will be identified as part of this approval.
- 5.10 Director of People Services may approve the settlement of employment tribunal cases and grievances of staff and other employee related compensation payments for staff under the direction and control of the Chief Constable with the exception of those cases felt to be exceptional as defined in financial regulations
- 5.11 All employee related payments over £50,000 may only be approved after consultation with relevant CFO or DCC.
- 5.12 All pension related payments must be subject to the scrutiny and agreement of the Joint Pensions Board.

## Section 6: Pay, Establishment Control and Pensions

### Summary

- 6.1 Police pay budgets are non-delegated and managed centrally. Police staff and PCSO budgets are delegated. This section sets out the level of delegation and control framework for the management of the establishment (funded posts) and appointment (permanent and temporary) to these posts.
- 6.2 The establishment (funded posts) for each force is managed and maintained by the CFO. Any changes to the establishment are subject to approval as set out below. The establishment for joint teams is jointly managed by the CFO.
- 6.3 Budget holders have a responsibility to ensure Force systems are kept up to date by providing timely notification of staff joiners, movements and leavers.
- 6.4 The management of payroll and pensions is the responsibility of the Director of People Services.

### **Police Officers**

- 6.4 The police officer pay budget is centrally managed and not delegated. This means that any expenditure variance is not the direct responsibility and cannot be used by the budget holder.
- 6.5 The only exception to this is externally funded functions, e.g. Gatwick, where the limits and approvals for police staff (set out below) apply. Joint Surrey and Sussex services are not treated as externally funded.
- 6.6 Police officer pay budget is based on the agreed establishment at average pay scale for each role less % vacancy factor assumption (set as part of annual budget setting process).
- 6.7 Any changes to the police officer establishment, after consultation with Finance and HR Business Partners, must be agreed by Chief Officers.
- 6.8 All changes to establishment must be reported to the Executive Director of Commercial & Finance Services in line with establishment control procedures.

### **Police Staff**

- 6.9 The Police Staff and PSCO budget is fully delegated. This means that:
  - all pay and allowances, sick and maternity/paternity/adoption pay will be met from within the delegated budget;
  - any underspend may be used for other purposes on a short-term basis (in year only);
  - any overspend must be met from within the overall delegated budget.
- 6.10 Police staff budget is based on the agreed establishment at average pay scale for each role less % vacancy factor assumption (set as part of annual budget setting process). Budget holders may appoint to these posts with permanent or temporary staff providing this is within their overall delegated budget for the year.
- 6.11 Delegated Budget Holders may vary the mix of current police staff posts within their establishment, in consultation with their Finance and HR business partners, providing that this change does not increase/decrease the on-going annual financial commitment by more than £50,000 and any increase can be funded within their overall delegated budgets.

- 6.12 Portfolio Holders can approve a variation of current police staff posts within their Delegated Budget Holders establishment providing that this change does not increase/decrease the on-going annual financial commitment by more than £100,000 and any increase can be funded within their overall delegated budgets.
- 6.13 All changes in mix of current posts are subject to consultation with Finance and HR Business Partners before they are actioned.
- 6.14 Any other proposed changes to Police Staff and PCSO posts (including creation of new roles and posts, deletion of existing posts or requests for funding increases above £100,000) must be approved by Executive Director of Commercial & Finance Services and Change Boards with an appropriate business case and financial appraisal (see section 8). Significant business cases may require Chief Officer and/or PCCapproval.

### **Section 7: Income**

### Summary

- 7.1 The PCC is the recipient of all income from any source in relation to policing or related activity. The majority of estimated income is allocated to the Chief Constable's as part of the approved annual budget.
- 7.2 The majority of income is delegated to budget holders. Any additional income received from existing income generating activities can be used to fund other short term/ non recurrent commitments in year.
- 7.3 The approval limits for agreeing unplanned income or a new income-generating initiatives including income from joint working funding is set out in Appendix A.
- 7.4 To safeguard the Force's budget Delegated Budget Holders are responsible for complying with force policy of income generation and charging and ensuring effective systems are in placeto:
  - approve events where full charging or abatement applies;
  - agree service provision and charges prior to services being delivered;
  - sign invoice requests and ensure the correct finance codes are used;
  - adhere to the fees and charges policy or otherwise and to consult with

Finance Business Partner for setting of charges;

- ensure the proper separation of duties; and
- seek approval for write off of bad debt or waiver of income from the relevant CFO.

### Section 8: Business Cases and Financial Appraisals

8.1 Delegated Budget Holders are responsible for ensuring they prepare an appropriate business case for approval of a change programme or investment project. New investments with an estimated cost of over £100,000 (based on the full cost of change) require approval of the Joint Investment Board. All business cases and financial appraisals must be in line with the DCC Strategic Planning Board and broader oversight and reporting mechanisms determining force priorities.

- 8.2 The financial appraisal template issued by CFOs must be used to reflect all implementation and ongoing costs that relate to a change programme or investment, which must be included within each business case.
- 8.3 Finance Business Partners own the financial appraisal and MUST be a signatory to all business cases.
- 8.4 Business cases must include the plan for changes in establishment. For joint Surrey/Sussex services this plan should be based on the principle of maintaining posts in a ratio of Sussex to Surrey at the cost sharing ratio where possible with variations acceptable where there is a sound business or operational reason to do so. The main aim is to provide clarity to both Forces for financial and workforce planning.
- 8.5 All costs are shown gross including the direct cost of implementation. Savings and income streams are to be shown separately.
- 8.6 To ensure decision makers are aware of the whole cost of change all resources required should be included within the implementation costs irrespective of whether additional funding is required; for clarity this includes opportunity and overhead costs and ongoing revenue costs.
- 8.7 Approval limits for agreeing business cases is set out in Appendix A. Portfolio Holders and Delegated Budget Holders are required to consult with HR and Finance Business Partners before agreement of any business case and consider consultation with other key stakeholders or Boards as required. This will include the CFO approval Board and the Change Board.
- 8.8 Significant business cases may also require Chief Officer and PCC approval or approval for new funding if this has not already been identified.
- 8.9 Once approved and included in the budget, any significant projects that are in excess of £1m or if less but span more than 18 months, must provide a monthly financial report setting out the budget, forecast, actuals and variance. The reports will be at a cost type level suitable for the project owner to understand their financial position.

## **Section 9: Other Delegations**

### Procurement

- 9.1 The Head of Joint Procurement Service will undertake the day to day management of the Joint Procurement Function in accordance with Contract Standing Orders and the PCC Scheme of Delegation.
- 9.2 All contracts entered into will be in the name of the Police & Crime Commissioner.
- 9.3 Authorisation limits for contract approval, sign off and ordering of goods and services are set out in Appendix A.

### **Property and Assets**

- 9.4 The Service Director of Estates and Facilities will undertake the day to day management of the property function and property assets subject to the provision of Financial Regulations and the PCC Scheme of Delegation.
- 9.5 The Service Director of Estates and Facilities may approve purchase and disposal of freeholds and leaseholds in the name of The Police and Crime Commissioner, up to the values in Appendix A.

- 9.6 The Service Director of Estates and Facilities must keep a register of all property and major assets owned by the Police and Crime Commissioner or leased by him/her in line with the values set out in Appendix A.
- 9.7 The Service Director of Transport will undertake day to day management of the transport function, vehicles and related equipment.
- 9.8 The Service Director of Transport may approve the disposals of assets in accordance with limits in Appendix A.
- 9.9 The Service Director of Transport must keep a register of all vehicle assets and equipment owned by the Police and Crime Commissioner or leased by him/her in line with Financial Regulations.

### Insurance

9.10 The Head of Joint Insurance will undertake day to day management of the insurance arrangements in line with Financial Regulations.

### Partnerships

- 9.11 The PCC and the CC provide distinctive leadership roles within the community to make Surrey and Sussex safer through effective and efficient delivery of the right police services for the county. This role can be enhanced though working in successful partnership with other organisations.
- 9.12 A Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) setting out appropriate governance for partnership projects should be drawn up by the relevant lead and signed by the relevant Chief Officer.
- 9.13 The relevant CFO may approve partnership agreements with a financial contribution of up to £500,000 (in cash or equivalent resourcing costs in kind) over the term of the agreement.
- 9.14 Delegated Budget Holders may approve partnership agreements in accordance with limits in Appendix A and conditions set out in Financial Regulations.

### **Section 10: Recording of Approvals**

- 10.1 All post holders identified in this Scheme are required to properly record and maintain an audit trail for approvals, which is available for inspection by internal or external audit and to provide a summary of any significant approvals during the year in accordance with instructions of relevant CFO(s).
- 10.2 Any decisions or actions requiring PCC approval should be identified at the earliest opportunity and the relevant Portfolio Holder, DCC or CFO notified in order that these can be managed within the arrangements for PCC decision making in each Force.

# Summary of Authorisation Levels APPENDIX A

	Fin Reg/ (CSO) Ref	Local Discretion	Delegated Budget Holder	Portfolio Holder	Head of Joint Procurement	Head of Joint Insurance / Claims Manager (Sussex)	Head of PSD	Service Director Joint Transport	Service Director Estates & Facilities	Director of People Services	DCC	CFO	Gold Commander	Chief Officer On Call
Virements	2.3		£50,000	£100,000								£500,000		
Business case approval (revenue & capital)	2.3		£50,000	£100,000								£500,000		
Acquisition of freeholds	2.4								£50,000			£500,000		
Acquisitions of leaseholds	2.4								£50,000			£500,000		
Grant of leases	2.4								£50,000			£500,000		
Disposal of vehicles and plant	3.8							£10,000				£20,000		
Disposal of property and leases	3.8								£50,000			£500,000		
Write off surplus obsolete assets	3.8											£20,000		
Write off surplus, lost or obsolete stock/equipment	3.8		£10,000					£10,000				£20,000		
Capital Project & WIP Abortive Costs	3.8											£20,000		
Provision of policing services – external	4.2/5.3		£50,000	£100,000							£250,000	£500,000		
Provision of policing services – other	4.2			£100,000							£250,000	£500,000		
Provision/ request for mutual aid	4.2			£100,000							£500,000			
Write off bad debt – individually	4.2											£10,000		
Write off bad debt – cumulatively	4.2											£25,000		
Requisitions (Surrey)		£25,000	£50,000		£500,000							No limit		
Approve Orders		£25,000	£50,000	£100,000							£250,000	No limit		

	Fin Reg Ref	Local Discretion	Delegated Budget Holder	Portfolio Holder	Head of Joint Procurement	Head of Joint Insurance / Claims Manager (Sussex)	Head of PSD	Service Director Joint Transport	Service Director Estates & Facilities	Director of People Services	DCC	CFO	Gold Commander	Chief Officer On Call
Ex Gratia payments	4.7		£1,000								£5,000	£10,000		
Compensation claims – accident	4.7					£25,000	£50,000				£250,000	£250,000		
Compensation claims – non accident	4.7					£25,000	£50,000				£100,000	£100,000		
Employment tribunal or grievance	4.7									No limit				
Early retirement or redundancy	4.7									No limit				
Gifts, loans sponsorship and donations	4.8		£1,000									£50,000		
Partnerships	5.1		£50,000	£100,000								£500,000		
External Agencies – agreement for provision of police services	5.3		£50,000	£100,000							£250,000	£500,000		
Contract Standing Order Waivers	cso 2.3				£50,000							£500,000		
Acceptance of quotation / tender	cso 3.1		£50,000	£50,000	£500,000							£1,00,000		
Signing contracts	cso 3.1		£50,000	£50,000	£1m							No limit		
Emergency operational commitments	n/a											£500,000	£50,000	£250,000
Police staff post mix – financial impact	n/a		£50,000	£100,000								£500,000		
Signing cheques		£25,000												
Authorising payment runs		£25,000												

### Notes:

- (a) CFO approval will be exercised via formal boards (CFO Approval Board; Change Boards; Surrey and Sussex Chief Officer meetings) or otherwise in consultation with the relevant Chief Constable(s).
- (b) All approvals exceeding the limits set out in this table require PCC approval.
- (c) Local discretion can be applied as set out above in consultation with Finance Business Partners and in accordance with procedures and systems for Surrey & Sussex CC Scheme of Delegation (May 2020)

ordering and payment of goods and services operating within each Force; limits below can be used as a guide

	Requisitioner up to SPA11	Supervisor	Inspector or M1	Chief Inspector or M2	Supt or M3; Police Staff (Band 2)	Authorised finance/ HR staff (Band 1)
Requisitions and Orders	£500	£2,500	£5,000	£15,000	£25,000	
Cheques / Payments					£25,000	No Limit

Surrey & Sussex CC Scheme of Delegation (May 2020)